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Financial Information 
1. Consolidated Financial Statements Preparation Methods 

The Company’s consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with the “Regulation on Terminology, Forms, and 

Preparation Methods of Consolidated Financial Statements” (Ministry of Finance Order No. 28 of 1976). 

 

2. Audit Certification 

The Company’s consolidated financial statements for the consolidated fiscal year (January 1 through December 31, 2024) and 

financial statements for the fiscal year (January 1 through December 31, 2024) have been audited by Ernst & Young ShinNihon 

LLC in accordance with the provisions of Article 193-2, Paragraph 1 of the Financial Instruments and Exchange Act of Japan. 

The “Independent Auditor’s Report and Internal Control Audit Report” is an English translation of the relevant portions of the 

Annual Securities Report. 

 

3. Special Measures to Ensure the Appropriateness of Consolidated Financial Statements, etc. 

The Company takes special measures to ensure the appropriateness of its consolidated financial statements, etc. Specifically, to 

properly understand the content of accounting standards and conduct appropriate disclosure, the Company has joined the Financial 

Accounting Standards Foundation and participates in seminars and other events organized by the foundation, auditing firms and 

other organizations. 
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Consolidated Financial Statements, etc. 

(1) Consolidated Financial Statements 

1) Consolidated Balance Sheets 

 

  Millions of yen  Thousands of U.S. dollars 

  2024 2023  2024 
Assets            
Current assets            

Cash and deposits ¥ 45,176 ¥ 47,200  $  285,599 
Notes and accounts receivable – trade  17,465  17,820    110,414 
Short-term investments in securities  18,907  17,944    119,531 
Merchandise and finished goods  12,094  12,198    76,458 
Work in process  904  683    5,719 
Raw materials and supplies  3,621  3,534    22,898 
Other  8,047  8,388    50,877 
Allowance for doubtful accounts  (96)  (72)    (611) 

Total current assets  106,120  107,697    670,885 
Property, plant and equipment           

Buildings and structures  69,373  53,186    438,573 
Accumulated depreciation  (37,952)  (36,657)   (239,934) 
Buildings and structures, net  31,420  16,528   198,639 

Machinery, equipment and vehicles  11,758  9,938    74,338 
Accumulated depreciation  (8,125)  (8,084)   (51,369) 
Machinery, equipment and vehicles, net  3,633  1,853   22,969 

Land  14,252  14,247    90,100 
Leased assets  6,754  6,844   42,701 

Accumulated depreciation  (6,058)  (6,176)   (38,304) 
Leased assets, net  695  668   4,396 

Construction in progress  246  14,450    1,561 
Other  20,089  18,865    127,001 

Accumulated depreciation  (12,806)  (12,917)    (80,964) 
Other, net  7,282  5,948    46,037 

Net property, plant and equipment  57,530  53,696    363,702 
Intangible assets           

Right of trademark   19  21    122 
Software  11,590  11,813   73,273 
Other intangible assets  90  91    572 

Net intangible assets  11,700  11,926    73,967 
Investments and other assets           

Investments in securities  *1 15,407  *1 17,361    97,404 
Long-term loans receivable  251  163    1,592 
Deferred tax assets  5,220  6,264    33,004 
Other  4,530  4,419    28,639 
Allowance for doubtful accounts   (440)  (321)    (2,783) 

Total investments and other assets  24,969  27,886    157,856 
Total non-current assets  94,200  93,510    595,525 

Total assets ¥ 200,320 ¥ 201,207  $  1,266,410 
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  Millions of yen  Thousands of U.S. dollars 

  2024 2023  2024 
Liabilities             
Current liabilities             

Notes and accounts payable – trade ¥ 2,264 ¥ 2,751  $ 14,313 
Current portion of long-term borrowings  6  12    43 
Lease obligations  774  674    4,898 
Accounts payable – other  10,171  11,231    64,302 
Income taxes payable  4,206  875    26,595 
Contract liabilities  4,795  5,226    30,319 
Provision for bonuses  1,578  1,807    9,979 
Provision for directors’ bonuses  177  161    1,119 
Other provisions  8  54   51 
Other  3,368  2,848    21,293 

Total current liabilities  27,351  25,644    172,912 
Non-current liabilities           

Long-term borrowings  40  46   253 
Lease obligations  1,295  962   8,189 
Net defined benefit liability  229  811    1,450 
Provision for share benefits for directors  99  123    627 
Provision for environmental measures  7  52    47 
Asset retirement obligations  3,885  3,534   24,563 
Other  2,496  1,634    15,784 

Total non-current liabilities  8,053  7,165    50,913 
Total liabilities  35,404  32,809    223,825 
Net assets           
Shareholders’ equity            

Common stock  10,000  10,000   63,219 
Capital surplus  80,451  81,025   508,608 
Retained earnings  78,674  80,907   497,372 
Treasury stock, at cost  (2,922)  (2,839)    (18,477) 

Total shareholders’ equity  166,203  169,093    1,050,722 
Accumulated other comprehensive income           

Unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale securities  75  229    479 
Foreign currency translation adjustments  (2,106)  (1,772)    (13,318) 
Remeasurements of defined benefit plans  483  255    3,058 

Total accumulated other comprehensive income  (1,547)  (1,287)    (9,781) 
Subscription rights to shares  236  243    1,493 
Non-controlling interests  23  348    150 
Total net assets  164,916  168,398    1,042,585 

Total liabilities and net assets ¥ 200,320 ¥ 201,207  $ 1,266,410 
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2) Consolidated Statements of Income and Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income 

[Consolidated Statements of Income] 
  Millions of yen   Thousands of U.S. dollars 

  2024 2023   2024 
Net sales ¥ *1 170,359 ¥ *1 173,304   $ 1,077,001 

Cost of sales  *2 31,846  *2 31,227    201,332 

Gross profit  138,513  142,076    875,668 

Selling, general and administrative expenses        
Sales commission  32,941  34,976    208,255 
Promotion expenses  11,221  11,032   70,938 
Packing and transportation expenses  5,823  5,709   36,814 
Advertising expenses  11,469  12,556   72,510 
Salaries, allowances and bonuses  22,167  21,732   140,142 
Welfare expenses  4,551  4,432    28,773 
Retirement benefit expenses  762  692    4,823 
Provision for bonuses  1,521  1,644   9,617 
Depreciation and amortization  6,274  6,311   39,666 
Other  27,969  26,908    176,819 

Total selling, general and administrative expenses  *2 124,702  *2 125,996    788,357 

Operating income  13,810  16,080   87,312 

Non-operating income         
Interest income  261  237    1,653 
Foreign exchange gains  1,749  2,122    11,060 
Other  518  330    3,279 

Total non-operating income  2,529  2,691    15,992 

Non-operating expenses        
Interest expense  113  103    715 
Commission expenses  74  127    471 
Other  69  70   440 

Total non-operating expenses  257  302   1,626 

Ordinary income ¥ 16,083 ¥ 18,469  $ 101,678 
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  Millions of yen   Thousands of U.S. dollars 

  2024 2023   2024 

Extraordinary income        

Compensation income ¥ — ¥ 376   $ — 
Foreign currency translation adjustments  —  297   — 

Total extraordinary income  —  674   — 

Extraordinary losses        
Loss on disposal of non-current assets  *3 330  *3 697   2,092 
Impairment loss  *4 696  *4 1,813   4,401 
Loss on valuation of investment securities  300  361    1,897 
Other  107  911   678 

Total extraordinary losses  1,434  3,783   9,068 

Income before income taxes  14,649  15,360    92,610 

Income taxes – current  4,306  1,300    27,227 
Income taxes – deferred  1,034  4,327   6,539 

Total income taxes  5,341  5,627    33,766 

Net income  9,307  9,732    58,844 

Profit attributable to non-controlling interests  21  67    138 

Profit attributable to owners of parent ¥ 9,286 ¥ 9,665   $ 58,706 
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[Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income] 
  Millions of yen  Thousands of U.S. dollars 

  2024 2023  2024 

Net income ¥ 9,307 ¥ 9,732   $ 58,844 
            

Other comprehensive income            
Unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale securities  (153)  109    (973) 
Foreign currency translation adjustments  (371)  (1,455)    (2,346) 
Remeasurements of defined benefit plans  228  72    1,445 

Total other comprehensive income  *1 (296)  *1 (1,273)    (1,874) 

Comprehensive income ¥ 9,011 ¥ 8,459  $ 56,970 

            

Comprehensive income attributable to:           
Owners of parent ¥ 9,026 ¥ 8,378  $ 57,062 
Non-controlling interests ¥ (14) ¥ 80  $ (92) 
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3) Consolidated Statements of Changes in Net Assets 
 

  Millions of yen 

  Common 
shares 

(Thousands) 
 

Common 
stock 

Capital 
surplus 

Retained 
earnings 

Treasury 
stock, 
at cost 

Accumulated 
other 

comprehensive 
income 

Subscription 
rights to 
shares 

 

Non- 
controlling 

interests 

Total 
net assets 

Balance at January 1, 2023  229,136 ¥ 10,000 ¥ 81,025 ¥ 82,759 ¥ (2,860) ¥ (0) ¥ 243 ¥ 291 ¥ 171,459 

Dividends from retained earnings           (11,516)              (11,516) 

Net income attributable to  
owners of parent 

          9,665              9,665 

Disposal of treasury stock             20           20 

Change in unrealized gain (loss) 
on available-for-sale securities 

                109        109 

Foreign currency translation  
adjustments 

                (1,468)        (1,468) 

Remeasurements of defined  
benefit plans 

                72        72 

Subscription rights to shares                    －     － 

Non-controlling interests                       57  57 

Balance at January 1, 2024  229,136  10,000  81,025  80,907  (2,839)  (1,287)  243  348  168,398 

Dividends from retained earnings           (11,519)              (11,519) 
Net income attributable to  

owners of parent 
          9,286              9,286 

Acquisition of treasury stock          (195)        (195) 

Disposal of treasury stock        159     112           271 

Changes in ownership interest due to 
acquisition of subsidiary stock 

     (733)            (733) 

Change in unrealized gain (loss) 
on available-for-sale securities 

                (153)        (153) 

Foreign currency translation  
adjustments 

                (334)        (334) 

Remeasurements of defined  
benefit plans 

                228        228 

Subscription rights to shares                    (7)     (7) 

Non-controlling interests                       (324)  (324) 

Balance at December 31, 2024  229,136 ¥ 10,000 ¥ 80,451 ¥ 78,674 ¥ (2,922) ¥ (1,547) ¥ 236 ¥ 23 ¥ 164,916 
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  Thousands of U.S. dollars 

  Common 
stock 

Capital 
surplus 

Retained 
earnings 

Treasury  
stock, 
at cost 

Accumulated 
other 

comprehensive 
income 

Subscription 
rights to 
shares 

Non- 
controlling 

interests 

Total 
net assets 

Balance at January 1, 2024 $ 63,219 $ 512,237 $ 511,491 $ (17,952) $ (8,137) $ 1,538 $ 2,203 $ 1,064,599 

Dividends from retained earnings      (72,815)          (72,815) 
Net income attributable to  

owners of parent 
     58,706          58,706 

Acquisition of treasury stock        (1,236)        (1,236) 

Disposal of treasury stock    1,007    712        1,719 
Changes in ownership interest due to 

acquisition of subsidiary stock 
   (4,636)            (4,636) 

Change in unrealized gain (loss) 
on available-for-sale securities 

         (973)      (973) 

Foreign currency translation  
adjustments 

         (2,116)      (2,116) 

Remeasurements of defined  
benefit plans 

         1,445      1,445 

Subscription rights to shares            (45)    (45) 

Non-controlling interests              (2,053)  (2,053) 

Balance at December 31, 2024 $ 63,219 $ 508,608 $ 497,372 $ (18,477) $ (9,781) $ 1,493 $ 150 $ 1,042,585 
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4) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
 

  Millions of yen   Thousands of U.S. 
dollars 

  2024 2023   2024 

Cash flows from operating activities            
Income before income taxes ¥ 14,649 ¥ 15,360   $ 92,610 
Adjustments to reconcile income before income taxes to 

net cash flows from operating activities:           

Depreciation and amortization  8,352  7,712    52,806 
Impairment loss  696  1,813    4,401 
Increase (decrease) in allowance for doubtful accounts  145  159   922 
Increase (decrease) in provision for bonus  (248)  31   (1,572) 
Increase (decrease) in other provisions  (64)  13    (406) 
Increase (decrease) in net defined benefit liability  (258)  (971)    (1,637) 
Interest and dividend income  (261)  (237)    (1,653) 
Interest expenses  113  103    715 
Foreign exchange loss (gain)  (1,378)  (2,176)    (8,714) 
Loss (gain) on valuation of investment securities  300  361   1,897 
Loss on disposal of non-current assets  330  697    2,092 
Foreign currency translation adjustments  —  (297)   — 
Loss on liquidation of business  —  770    — 
Compensation income  —  (376)   — 
Decrease (increase) in notes and accounts receivable – trade  495  175    3,131 
Decrease (increase) in inventories  (17)  (1,464)    (113) 
Increase (decrease) in notes and accounts payable – trade  (708)  (135)    (4,476) 
Increase (decrease) in contract liabilities  (460)  (244)   (2,914) 
Decrease (increase) in other assets  259  (317)    1,639 
Increase (decrease) in other liabilities  514  (249)    3,255 
Other  (229)  83    (1,448) 

Subtotal  22,229  20,810    140,535 
Interest and dividends received  273  232    1,729 
Interest paid  (115)  (104)   (730) 
Payment for liquidation of business  (38)  (305)   (245) 
Compensation income received  —  376   — 
Income taxes paid  3,836  (6,586)    24,254 

Net cash provided by operating activities ¥ 26,185 ¥ 14,423   $ 165,543 
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  Millions of yen   Thousands of U.S. 
dollars 

  2024 2023   2024 
Cash flows from investing activities            

Payments into time deposits ¥ (278) ¥ (286)   $ (1,760) 
Proceeds from withdrawal of time deposits  281  245    1,777 
Purchase of short-term investments in securities  (2,000)  (1,000)    (12,644) 
Proceeds from sales and redemption of short-term  

investments in securities  12,000  11,100    75,863 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (8,172)  (12,146)    (51,663) 
Proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment  4  0    28 
Purchase of intangible assets  (3,983)  (4,088)    (25,182) 
Payments for disposal of non-current assets  (29)  (215)    (188) 
Purchase of investments in securities  (9,310)  (11,403)    (58,857) 
Proceeds from sales and redemptions of investment securities  43  —   273 
Payments for asset retirement obligations  (338)  (345)   (2,139) 
Purchase of long-term prepaid expenses  (346)  (254)    (2,194) 
Payments for lease and guarantee deposits  (192)  (144)    (1,217) 
Proceeds from collection of lease and guarantee deposits  288  416    1,823 
Other  (70)  (612)    (445) 

Net cash used in investing activities  (12,104)  (18,734)    (76,524) 
Cash flows from financing activities           

Repayments of borrowings  (12)  (12)    (78) 
Repayments of lease obligations  (800)  (815)   (5,064) 
Cash dividends paid  (11,554)  (11,547)    (73,049) 
Purchase of treasury shares  (195)  (20)   (1,236) 
Payments for acquisition of shares of subsidiaries  

not resulting in change in scope of consolidation  (1,008)  —   (6,373) 

Proceeds from sales of treasury shares  195  20   1,235 
Net cash used in financing activities  (13,376)  (12,375)    (84,564) 

Effect of exchange rate changes on  
cash and cash equivalents  224  501    1,418 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  928  (16,185)    5,872 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year   46,376  62,562    293,190 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year  ¥ *1 47,305 ¥ *1 46,376   $ 299,062 
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[Notes] 
■ (Basis for Preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements) 
1. The scope of consolidation 

(1) Number of consolidated subsidiaries: 34 

Names of major consolidated subsidiaries 

POLA INC. 

ORBIS Inc. 

POLA CHEMICAL INDUSTRIES INC. 

P.O. REAL ESTATE INC. 

and 30 other companies 

(Three new companies) 

In the current fiscal year, Jurlique Taiwan Inc., PO GLOBAL INC. and POLA ORBIS (Shanghai) Enterprise Management CO., 

LTD. were newly established and are included in the scope of consolidation. 

 

(2) Number of non-consolidated subsidiaries: 1 

Name of major non-consolidated subsidiaries 

encyclo.INC 

Reason for exclusion from scope of consolidation 

Total assets, net sales, net income or loss (amount corresponding to equity) and retained earnings (amount corresponding to equity) 

all have a negligible effect on the consolidated financial statements. 

 

2. Application of the equity method 

(1) Number of affiliated companies to which the equity method is applied 

None 

 

(2) Names of non-consolidated subsidiaries to which the equity method is not applied and the reason 

One non-consolidated subsidiary (encyclo.INC) and 18 affiliated companies (Kohaku Co., Ltd., AGG Co., Ltd., SOULA Inc., lealea 

Co., Ltd., Lance Co., Ltd., AQUALIE Co., Ltd., Some FaB Co., Ltd., Viva Trail Co., Ltd., PraCheer Co., Ltd., REVER Flor Co., 

Ltd., WELLHAPI, Inc., PO-ZE Co., Ltd., ei. Co., Ltd., Pribbon Co., Ltd., O2 Co., Ltd., An Co., Ltd., R style Beauty Co., Ltd. and 

P. Co., Ltd.) are excluded from the scope of application of the equity method because their net income or loss (amount corresponding 

to equity) and retained earnings (amount corresponding to equity) have a negligible effect on the consolidated financial statements 

and are not significant as a whole. 

 

3. Fiscal year, etc., at consolidated subsidiaries 

The last day of the fiscal year at all consolidated subsidiaries is the same as the consolidated closing date. 
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4. Accounting policies 

(1) Valuation standards and method for material assets 

1) Securities 

Available-for-sale securities 

Items other than shares, etc., without a market price 

Market value method (in which valuation differences are processed by all being included directly in net assets, and the 

cost of securities sold is calculated by the moving average method) 

Shares, etc., without a market price 

Cost method according to the moving-average method 

The Company’s contribution to investment limited partnerships, which is defined as securities under Article 2, Paragraph 

2 of the Financial Instruments and Exchange Act of Japan, is recorded at net equity based on the most recently available 

financial statements according to the reporting dates specified in the partnership agreement. 

2) Inventories 

The cost of merchandise, finished goods, work in process and raw materials is determined using the cost method according to 

the monthly moving-average method (in which balance sheet values are calculated by writing down the carrying amount based 

on a decline in profitability), and the cost of supplies is principally determined using the last purchase cost method. 

 

(2) Depreciation and amortization method for significant depreciable and amortizable assets 

1) Property, plant and equipment (excluding leased assets) 

The Company and its domestic consolidated subsidiaries: 

Declining balance method 

The primary useful lives are as follows: 

Buildings and structures………………………..8–50 years 

Machinery, equipment and vehicles……………7–15 years 

The straight-line method over three years is used for small depreciable assets with an acquisition cost greater than or equal 

to ¥100,000 and less than ¥200,000. 

Overseas consolidated subsidiaries: 

Straight-line method based on local accounting standards 

2) Intangible assets (excluding leased assets) 

Straight-line method 

Right of trademark……………………………10 years 

Software for internal use……………………….5 years (estimated useful life at the Company) 

3) Leased assets 

Leased assets related to finance lease transactions that do not transfer ownership: 

The straight-line method is used when the lease term is deemed the useful life of the asset and the residual value is zero. 

Subsidiaries that had prepared their financial statements in accordance with IFRS adopted IFRS 16 Leases (“IFRS 16”). 

Under IFRS 16, a lessee of a lease is required to book all leases as assets and liabilities in principle, and the depreciation method 

of right-of-use assets booked in assets is the straight-line method. 

 

 



―15― 

(3) Basis for recording significant allowances and provisions 

1) Allowance for doubtful accounts 

To prepare for possible bad debt losses on notes and accounts receivable and loans receivable, etc., the Company and its domestic 

consolidated subsidiaries record estimated uncollectible amounts based on the historical bad debt ratio for general receivables 

and based on an individual assessment of the collectability of specific doubtful accounts receivable. Overseas consolidated 

subsidiaries mainly record estimated uncollectible amounts for specific receivables. 

2) Provision for bonuses 

To provide for the payment of bonuses to employees, a provision is recorded based on the estimated amount of the bonuses. 

3) Provision for directors’ bonuses 

To provide for the payment of bonuses to directors, a provision is recorded based on the estimated amount of the bonuses. 

4) Provision for directors’ share benefits 

To provide share benefits to the Company’s directors, etc., in accordance with the Company’s rules on the issuing of shares to 

directors, etc., a provision is recorded based on the estimated amount of the share benefit obligation at the end of the current 

fiscal year. 

5) Provision for environmental measures 

To provide for the disposal of polychlorinated biphenyl (PCB) waste, the estimated cost of disposal is recorded. 

 

(4) Accounting method for retirement benefits 

1) Periodic allocation method for estimated retirement benefits 

The retirement benefit obligation is calculated by allocating the estimated retirement benefits to the period up to the end of the 

current fiscal year using the benefit formula basis. 

2) Amortization of actuarial gains or losses and past service cost 

Past service cost is amortized on a straight-line basis over a certain number of years (10 years) within the average remaining 

service period of employees at the time of occurrence in each consolidated fiscal year. Actuarial gains or losses are amortized on 

a straight-line basis over a certain number of years (10–14 years) within the average remaining service period of employees at 

the time of occurrence in each consolidated fiscal year, and the amount is amortized from the following consolidated fiscal year. 

 

(5) Basis for recording significant revenues and expenses 

The Group manufactures and markets cosmetics and related products, and for the marketing of such products, the Group’s 

performance obligation is primarily to deliver finished products based on sales contracts with customers. Upon delivery of a product, 

the customer acquires control of the product, and the performance obligation is deemed satisfied and revenue is recognized. 

However, for sales of products in Japan, revenue is recognized at the time of shipment because the period from the time of shipment 

to the time when control of the products is transferred to the customer is a normal period of time. 

The Group has introduced a point program that awards points for purchases of products and other items, and when points awarded 

under a contract with a customer provide the customer with significant rights, the points expected to be exercised by the customer 

in the future are recorded as a performance obligation under contract liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets. Transaction prices 

are allocated based on the ratio of the stand-alone selling price to the performance obligation related to these points and the 

performance obligation related to the products for which the points are granted. Transaction prices allocated to performance 

obligations for points that are recorded under contract liabilities are recognized as revenue in accordance with the use of the points. 

For transactions in which a sales incentive or other consideration is paid to the sales agent or others who are customers of a 
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product sales transaction, if the consideration paid is not in exchange for goods or services separate from the sale of the product, 

the transaction is considered a revenue reduction. 

Consideration in product sales contracts is collected primarily within one year from the time when control of the goods is 

transferred to the customer and does not include a significant financial component. 

 

(6) Basis for translating significant assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies into Japanese yen 

Monetary receivables and payables denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Japanese yen at the spot exchange rate on 

the consolidated account closing date, and differences arising from the translations are recognized as gains or losses. 

Assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries are translated into Japanese yen at the spot exchange rate on the account closing date, 

while revenue and expenses are translated into Japanese yen at the average exchange rate for the year, and differences are included 

in the foreign currency translation adjustments and non-controlling interests under net assets. 

 

(7) Scope of cash and cash equivalents on consolidated statements of cash flows 

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, bank deposits that can be withdrawn at any time and short-term investments 

with a maturity of three months or less when purchased that can easily be converted to cash and are subject to little risk of value 

fluctuation. 

 

(8) Other important matters related to the preparation of the consolidated financial statements 

Application of group tax sharing system 

The group tax sharing system is applied. 

 

■ (Significant Accounting Estimates) 
Items for which an accounting estimate has been recorded in the consolidated financial statements for the current fiscal year that may 

have a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements in the following fiscal year are as follows: 

1. Impairment loss on non-current assets related to individual stores 

(1) Amount recorded in the consolidated financial statements for the current fiscal year 

(Millions of yen) 

 
FY2023 

December 31, 2023 

FY2024 

December 31, 2024 

Non-current assets related to individual stores 2,619 2,361 

Impairment loss 538 609 

 

(2) Information on the nature of significant accounting estimates for identified items 

1) Method of calculating the amount recorded in the consolidated financial statements for the current fiscal year 

In assessing whether there is any indication that individual stores may be impaired, the Group considers each store the 

smallest unit that generates independent cash flows and assesses whether an impairment loss should be recognized for stores 

for which there is an indication of impairment. If the total undiscounted future cash flows of any store are less than the 

carrying amount, the carrying amount is reduced to the recoverable amount and an impairment loss is recognized. Estimates 

of future cash flows are based on the medium-term management plan approved by the Board of Directors. 

 



―17― 

2) Key assumptions 

A main assumption in formulating the medium-term management plan is the sales plan by customer base. The sales plan by 

customer base is estimated from changes in sales performance over the past years. 

3) Effect on consolidated financial statements for the following fiscal year 

Any changes to the assumptions used in the estimates for the current fiscal year due to future changes in the market 

environment or other factors could have a significant impact on the valuation of non-current assets related to individual stores 

in the following fiscal year. 

 

■ (New Accounting Standards Not Yet Applied) 
(Accounting Standard for Leases, etc.) 

- “Accounting Standard for Leases” (ASBJ Statement No. 34, issued on September 13, 2024 by Accounting Standards Board of Japan 

(ASBJ)) 

- “Implementation Guidance on Accounting Standard for Leases” (ASBJ Guidance No. 33, issued on September 13, 2024 by ASBJ), 

etc. 

1. Overview 

As part of initiatives to align Japanese accounting standards with international accounting standards, the Accounting Standards 

Board of Japan (ASBJ) conducted deliberations based on the international accounting standards with the aim of developing a new 

accounting standard for leases, in which a lessee recognizes assets and liabilities for all leases. Employing the basic policy of 

adopting not all stipulations but only key stipulations of IFRS 16 while using the single lessee accounting model of IFRS 16 as its 

basis, the ASBJ released the accounting standard for leases, etc., that is simple and highly convenient, and that also aims to basically 

eliminate the need for restatements when the stipulations of IFRS 16 are applied to non-consolidated financial statements. 

With regard to accounting treatment for a lessee, the single lessee accounting model is applied to the cost allocation for leases 

of a lessee, under which, as in IFRS 16, a lessee is required to record depreciation and amortization of right-of-use assets and the 

amount equivalent to interest for lease liabilities for all leases, whether they are a finance lease transaction or an operating lease 

transaction. 

 

2. Planned date of application 

The accounting standard, etc., will be applied from the beginning of the fiscal year ending December 31, 2028. 

 

3. Impact of the application of the accounting standard, etc. 

The impact of the application of the Accounting Standard for Leases, etc., on the consolidated financial statements is currently 

being assessed. 

 
■ (Changes in Presentation) 
(Consolidated Statements of Income) 

“Loss on liquidation of business” under “Extraordinary losses,” which was separately presented in the previous fiscal year, is included 

in “Other” from the current fiscal year due to a lack of materiality. As a result, ¥770 million of “Loss on liquidation of business” 

presented under “Extraordinary losses” in the consolidated statements of income for the previous fiscal year is reclassified into “Other.” 
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(Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows) 
“Increase (decrease) in consumption taxes payable” under “Cash flows from operating activities,” which was separately presented in 

the previous fiscal year, is included in “Other” from the current fiscal year due to a lack of materiality. As a result, ¥193 million of 

“Increase (decrease) in consumption taxes payable” presented under “Cash flows from operating activities” in the consolidated 

statements of cash flows for the previous fiscal year is reclassified into “Other.” 

 

■ (Changes in Accounting Policies That Are Difficult to Distinguish from Changes in Accounting 
Estimates) 
(Change in Depreciation Method for Tangible Fixed Assets) 

The Company and its domestic consolidated subsidiaries have shifted from using the declining balance method, which was primarily 

used for the depreciation of tangible fixed assets (except for leased assets), to the straight-line method from the beginning of the 

current consolidated accounting period. 

The establishment of the Technical Development Center (TDC) in 2024 and the launch of the medium-term management plan in 

the same year have led to the anticipation of stable and consistent production and sales in the future. Consequently, the straight-line 

method, which evenly distributes costs over the useful life, has been deemed a more suitable approach for conducting periodic profit 

and loss calculations. 

As a result of this change, operating income have increased by ¥673 million, ordinary income, and income before income taxes for 

the current consolidated accounting period have increased by ¥683 million respectively compared with using the previous method. 

 
■ (Consolidated Balance Sheets) 
*1. The following are related to non-consolidated subsidiaries and affiliates. 

(Millions of yen) 

FY2023 

December 31, 2023 

FY2024 

December 31, 2024 

Investment securities 52  Investment securities 57  

 

■ (Consolidated Statements of Income) 
*1. Revenue from contracts with customers 

Net sales are not separately presented as revenue from contracts with customers and other revenues. The amount of revenue from 

contracts with customers is presented in “Notes, (Revenue Recognition), 1. Information analyzing revenue from contracts with 

customers” of the consolidated financial statements. 

*2. Research and development costs included in general and administrative expenses and the current fiscal year’s manufacturing costs 

consist of the following: 

(Millions of yen) 

FY2023 

(January 1, 2023–December 31, 2023) 

FY2024 

(January 1, 2024–December 31, 2024) 

4,625   5,103   
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*3. Details of loss on disposal of non-current assets are as follows: 

(Millions of yen) 

  
FY2023 

(January 1, 2023–December 31, 2023) 

FY2024 

(January 1, 2024–December 31, 2024) 

Buildings and structures 91   170   

Machinery, equipment and vehicles 1   18   

Leased assets 5   6   

Removal and demolition costs 219   94   

Software 358   23   

Other 20   16   

Total 697   330   
 
 

*4. Impairment loss 

The Group recognized impairment losses on the following assets or asset groups. 

  

FY2023 (January 1, 2023–December 31, 2023) 

(1) Asset groups and amounts of impairment losses recognized 

Location Usage Type 
Amount 

(millions of yen) 

Japan Stores and offices 
Buildings and structures, Property, plant and equipment (Other), 

Software, Investments and other assets 
385 

Asia Stores 
Buildings and structures, Property, plant and equipment (Other), 

Software 
331 

Oceania Stores Buildings and structures, Property, plant and equipment (Other) 92 

Japan Assets for lease Buildings and structures 76 

Japan Business assets 
Right of trademark, Buildings and structures, Property, plant and 

equipment (Other), Software, Intangible assets (Other) 
928 

Total 1,813 

  

(2) Background leading to the recognition of impairment losses 

With regard to stores and offices, the Group wrote down to the recoverable amount the carrying amount of asset groups that 

continuously recorded operating losses and whose total cash flow estimates fell below their carrying amount, and recorded the 

difference as an impairment loss. 

With regard to assets for lease, the Group wrote down the carrying amount of the asset group relating to the subject property 

to the recoverable amount due to a decrease in profitability following a resolution to rebuild the subject property and recorded 

the difference as an impairment loss. 

The Group wrote down the carrying amount of business assets to the recoverable amount and recorded the difference as an 

impairment loss due to operating losses in the previous and current fiscal years, a significant discrepancy between the reasonable 

business plan and actual results and the total amount of undiscounted future cash flows being less than the carrying amount. 
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(3) Asset grouping method 

Stores and offices and assets for lease are mostly grouped by individual store and office and asset for lease, on the basis of 

business divisions whose revenues and expenses are regularly monitored. Business assets are grouped by company. 

 

(4) Calculation method for recoverable amounts 

The recoverable amount is measured by value in use. Value in use is assessed as a zero recoverable amount if expected future 

cash flows are negative. 

 

FY2024 (January 1, 2024–December 31, 2024) 

(1) Asset groups and amounts of impairment losses recognized 

Location Usage Type 
Amount 

(millions of yen) 

Japan Stores 
Buildings and structures, Property, plant and equipment (Other), 

Investments and other assets 
187 

Asia Stores Buildings and structures, Property, plant and equipment (Other) 331 

Oceania Stores Buildings and structures 90 

Japan Business assets 
Buildings and structures, Property, plant and equipment (Other), 

Software, Intangible assets (Other) 
86 

Total 696 

  

(2) Background leading to the recognition of impairment losses 

With regard to stores and offices, the Group wrote down to the recoverable amount the carrying amount of asset groups that 

continuously recorded operating losses and whose total cash flow estimates fell below their carrying amount, and recorded the 

difference as an impairment loss. 

The Group wrote down the carrying amount of business assets to the recoverable amount and recorded the difference as an 

impairment loss due to operating losses in the previous and current fiscal years, a significant discrepancy between the reasonable 

business plan and actual results and the total amount of undiscounted future cash flows being less than the carrying amount. 

  

(3) Asset grouping method 

Stores are mostly grouped by individual store, on the basis of business divisions whose revenues and expenses are regularly 

monitored. Business assets are grouped by company. 

  

(4) Calculation method for recoverable amounts 

The recoverable amount is measured by value in use. Value in use is assessed as a zero recoverable amount if expected future 

cash flows are negative. 
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■ (Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income) 
*1. Reclassification adjustments and tax effects for each component of other comprehensive income 

(Millions of yen) 

 

FY2023 

(January 1, 2023– 

December 31, 2023) 

FY2024 

(January 1, 2024– 

December 31, 2024) 

Valuation difference on available-for-sale securities     

Amount arising during the period 40  (294)  

Reclassification adjustment 108  74  

Amount before tax effect 148  (220)  

Tax effect (39)  66  

Valuation difference on available-for-sale securities 109  (153)  

Foreign currency translation adjustments     

Amount arising during the period (1,324)  (371)  

Reclassification adjustment (297)  —  

Amount before tax effect (1,621)  (371)  

Tax effect 165  —  

Foreign currency translation adjustments (1,455)  (371)  

Remeasurements of defined benefit plans     

Amount arising during the period 63  287  

Reclassification adjustment 42  38  

Amount before tax effect 105  326  

Tax effect (32)  (98)  

Remeasurements of defined benefit plans 72  228  

Total other comprehensive income (1,273)  (296)  
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■ (Consolidated Statements of Changes in Net Assets) 
FY2023 (January 1, 2023–December 31, 2023) 

1. Shares issued and outstanding 

Type of shares 
At the beginning 

of the period 
Increase Decrease At the end of the period 

Common stock (shares) 229,136,156 — — 229,136,156 

 

2. Treasury stock 

Type of shares 
At the beginning 

 of the period 
Increase Decrease At the end of the period 

Common stock (shares) 7,904,513 — 6,550 7,897,963 

Notes: 1. The number of shares of common stock held in treasury stock includes the Company’s shares (242,460 shares at the 

beginning of the period and 235,910 shares at the end of the period) held by the officer compensation Board Incentive Plan 

(BIP) trust. 

2. (Summary of reasons for changes) 

The reduction in the number of shares of treasury stock was due to a decrease of 6,550 shares delivered to directors under 

the stock delivery trust for directors. 

 

3. Subscription rights to shares, etc. 

Company name 
Breakdown of 

subscription rights 

Type of shares 

to be offered 

for subscription 

Number of shares to be offered (shares) 
Balance at the end 

of the period 

(millions of yen) 

At the 

beginning of 

the period 

Increase Decrease 
At the end of 

the period 

POLA ORBIS 

HOLDINGS INC. 

Subscription rights 

as stock options 
— — — — — 243 

Total — — — — 243 

 

4. Dividends 

(1) Dividends paid 

Resolution 
Type of 

shares 

Total dividends 

(millions of yen) 

Dividend per share 

(yen) 
Record date Effective date 

Annual Shareholders’ Meeting 

held on March 28, 2023 

Common 

stock 
6,865 31.00 December 31, 2022 March 29, 2023 

Board of Directors’ Meeting 

held on July 31, 2023 

Common 

stock 
4,650 21.00 June 30, 2023 September 8, 2023 

Note: Total dividends resolved at the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting held on March 28, 2023 include dividends of ¥7 million on 

the Company’s shares held by the officer compensation BIP trust. 

Total dividends resolved at the Board of Directors’ Meeting held on July 31, 2023 include dividends of ¥4 million on the 
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Company’s shares held by the officer compensation BIP trust. 

(2) Dividends with a record date in the current fiscal year and an effective date in the following fiscal year 

Resolution 
Type of 

shares 

Source of 

dividends 

Total dividends 

(millions of yen) 

Dividend per 

share (yen) 
Record date Effective date 

Annual Shareholders’ Meeting 

held on March 28, 2024 

Common 

stock 

Retained 

earnings 
6,865 31.00 December 31, 2023 March 29, 2024 

Note: Total dividends include dividends of ¥7 million on the Company’s shares held by the officer compensation BIP trust. 

 

FY2024 (January 1, 2024–December 31, 2024) 

1. Shares issued and outstanding 

Type of shares 
At the beginning 

of the period 
Increase Decrease At the end of the period 

Common stock (shares) 229,136,156 — — 229,136,156 

 

2. Treasury stock 

Type of shares 
At the beginning 

of the period 
Increase Decrease At the end of the period 

Common stock (shares) 7,897,963 133,275 160,512 7,870,726 

Notes: 1. The number of shares of common stock held in treasury stock includes the Company’s shares (235,910 shares at the 

beginning of the period and 344,998 shares at the end of the period) held by the officer compensation Board Incentive Plan 

(BIP) trust. 

2. (Summary of reasons for change) 

The increase in the number of shares of treasury stock was due to an increase of 133,200 shares acquired in accordance with 

the trust contract of the officer compensation Board Incentive Plan (BIP) trust and an increase of 75 shares acquired in the 

buyback of fractional shares. 

The reduction in the number of shares of treasury stock was due to a decrease of 133,200 shares resulting from the disposal 

of treasury stock, a decrease of 12,412 shares sold for the cash payment to directors under the stock delivery trust for directors, 

a decrease of 11,700 shares delivered to directors under the stock delivery trust for directors and a decrease of 3,200 shares 

exercised as stock options. 

 

3. Subscription rights to shares, etc. 

Company name 
Breakdown of 

subscription rights 

Type of shares 

to be offered 

for subscription 

Number of shares to be offered (shares) 
Balance at the end 

of the period 

(millions of yen) 

At the 

beginning of 

the period 

Increase Decrease 
At the end of 

the period 

POLA ORBIS 

HOLDINGS INC. 

Subscription rights 

as stock options 
— — — — — 236 

Total — — — — 236 
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4. Dividends 

(1) Dividends paid 

Resolution 
Type of 

shares 

Total dividends 

(millions of yen) 

Dividend per share 

(yen) 
Record date Effective date 

Annual Shareholders’ Meeting 

held on March 28, 2024 

Common 

stock 
6,865 31.00 December 31, 2023 March 29, 2024 

Board of Directors’ Meeting 

held on August 5, 2024 

Common 

stock 
4,653 21.00 June 30, 2024 September 6, 2024 

Note: Total dividends resolved at the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting held on March 28, 2024 include dividends of ¥7 million on 

the Company’s shares held by the officer compensation BIP trust. 

Total dividends resolved at the Board of Directors’ Meeting held on August 5, 2024 include dividends of ¥7 million on the 

Company’s shares held by the officer compensation BIP trust. 

 

(2) Dividends with a record date in the current fiscal year and an effective date in the following fiscal year 

Resolution 
Type of 

shares 

Source of 

dividends 

Total dividends 

(millions of yen) 

Dividend per 

share (yen) 
Record date Effective date 

Annual Shareholders’ Meeting 

held on March 27, 2025 

Common 

stock 

Retained 

earnings 
6,869 31.00 December 31, 2024 March 28, 2025 

Note: Total dividends include dividends of ¥10 million on the Company’s shares held by the officer compensation BIP trust. 
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■ (Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows) 
*1. Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period and accounting items reported in the consolidated balance sheets 

consists of the following: 
(Millions of yen) 

 

FY2023 

(January 1, 2023– 

December 31, 2023) 

FY2024 

(January 1, 2024– 

December 31, 2024) 

Cash and deposits 47,200 45,176 

Short-term investments in securities 17,944 18,907 

Other current assets — 3,000 

Total 65,145 67,083 

Time deposits with deposit periods of more than three months (824) (870) 

Stocks and bonds, etc., with maturities of more than three months (17,944) (18,907) 

Cash and cash equivalents 46,376 47,305 

 

 2. Significant non-cash transactions 

(Millions of yen) 

 

FY2023 

(January 1, 2023– 

December 31, 2023) 

FY2024 

(January 1, 2024– 

December 31, 2024) 

Assets and liabilities related to finance leases 698 1,287 

Significant asset retirement obligations 57 567 

Note: Subsidiaries that had prepared their financial statements in accordance with IFRS adopted IFRS 16, and lease transactions 

entered into by such companies are included in amounts of assets and liabilities related to finance leases above. 

 

■ (Leases) 
1. Finance leases 

(As a lessee) 

(1) Finance leases that do not transfer ownership 

1) Description of leased assets 

Property, plant and equipment: Primarily consist of interior furniture, fixtures and warehouse equipment (“buildings and 

structures” and “other property, plants and equipment”) 

2) Depreciation method for leased assets 

The straight-line method is used where the lease term is deemed the useful life of the asset and the residual value is zero. 

 

Subsidiaries that had prepared their financial statements in accordance with IFRS adopted IFRS 16, and the right-of-use assets 

included in assets and the depreciation method are included in the above description. 
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■ (Financial Instruments) 
1. Overview of financial instruments 

(1) Policies on financial instruments 

The Group utilizes only low-risk, short- to medium-term financial instruments for cash management, and it raises funds by 

borrowing from banks and by issuing corporate bonds in the capital market. 

 

(2) Description of financial instruments, risks and risk management systems 

Trade receivables such as notes and accounts receivable – trade are exposed to customers’ credit risk. To handle such risk, the Group 

manages payment dates and outstanding balances by individual customer and regularly reviews major customers’ credit status in 

accordance with the Group’s credit management policy. 

Investments in securities mainly consist of financial instruments with low risk such as held-to-maturity debt securities, but they 

are exposed to the risk of fluctuations in market price. The Group has a management system in place to quarterly monitor market 

value and other information in order to manage such risk. 

Trade payables such as notes and accounts payable – trade and accounts payable – other are due within one year. 

Furthermore, trade payables and interest-bearing liabilities are exposed to liquidity risk, but the Group manages such risk by, for 

example, preparing cash management schedules monthly. 

 

(3) Supplementary information on the fair value of financial instruments 

The fair value of financial instruments is based on the quoted price in an active market. A reasonable valuation technique is used if 

a quoted price is not available. The values may change under different assumptions as such calculation incorporates variable factors. 

 

2. Fair value of financial instruments 

FY2023 (December 31, 2023) 

(Millions of yen) 

 
Carrying amount on the 

consolidated balance sheets 
Fair value Difference 

Investments in securities (*2)    

Available-for-sale securities 29,878 29,878 — 

(*1) “Cash and deposits,” “Notes and accounts receivable – trade,” “Notes and accounts payable – trade” and “Accounts payable – 

other” are settled in the short term, their fair value approximates their carrying amount and therefore they are not stated. 

(*2) Shares, etc., without a market price are not included in “Investments in securities.” The carrying amounts on the consolidated 

balance sheets for such financial instruments are as follows: 

(Millions of yen) 

Classification FY2023 

Unlisted stock 1,172 

Capital contribution to investment in a limited partnership 4,254 

Total 5,427 

 
  



―27― 

FY2024 (December 31, 2024) 

(Millions of yen) 

 
Carrying amount on the 

consolidated balance sheets 
Fair value Difference 

Investments in securities (*2)    

Available-for-sale securities 27,773 27,773 — 

(*1) “Cash and deposits,” “Notes and accounts receivable – trade,” “Notes and accounts payable – trade” and “Accounts payable – 

other” are settled in the short term, their fair value approximates their carrying amount and therefore they are not stated. 

(*2) Shares, etc., without a market price are not included in “Investments in securities.” The carrying amounts on the consolidated 

balance sheets for such financial instruments are as follows: 

(Millions of yen) 

Classification FY2024 

Unlisted stock 1,487 

Capital contribution to investment in a limited partnership 5,053 

Total 6,540 

 

(Note 1) Redemption schedules of monetary receivables and investments in securities with maturities after the consolidated closing 

date 

FY2023 (December 31, 2023) 

(Millions of yen) 

 
Due within 

1 year 

Due after 

1 year through 

5 years 

Due after 

5 years through 

10 years 

Due after 

10 years 

Cash and deposits 47,200 — — — 

Notes and accounts receivable – trade 17,747 — — — 

Investments in securities     

Held-to-maturity debt securities (corporate bonds) — — — — 

Held-to-maturity debt securities (other) — — — — 

Available-for-sale securities with maturities (corporate bonds) 30 1,001 — — 

Available-for-sale securities with maturities (other) 17,944 10,930 3,738 488 

Total 82,922 11,931 3,738 488 
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FY2024 (December 31, 2024) 

(Millions of yen) 

 
Due within 

1 year 

Due after 

1 year through 

5 years 

Due after 

5 years through 

10 years 

Due after 

10 years 

Cash and deposits 45,176 — — — 

Notes and accounts receivable – trade 17,368 — — — 

Investments in securities     

Held-to-maturity debt securities (corporate bonds) — — — — 

Held-to-maturity debt securities (other) — — — — 

Available-for-sale securities with maturities (corporate bonds) — 992 — — 

Available-for-sale securities with maturities (other) 18,907 7,900 3,934 1,091 

Total 81,452 8,892 3,934 1,091 

 

(Note 2) Repayment schedules for long-term borrowings and other interest-bearing liabilities after the consolidated closing date 

FY2023 (December 31, 2023) 

(Millions of yen) 

  Due within 1 year 
Due after 1 year 

through 2 years 

Due after 2 years 

through 3 years 

Due after 3 years 

through 4 years 

Due after 4 years 

through 5 years 
Due after 5 years 

Long-term 

borrowings 
12 8 7 7 7 14 

 

FY2024 (December 31, 2024) 

(Millions of yen) 

 Due within 1 year 
Due after 1 year 

through 2 years 

Due after 2 years 

through 3 years 

Due after 3 years 

through 4 years 

Due after 4 years 

through 5 years 
Due after 5 years 

Long-term 

borrowings 
6 7 7 7 7 8 

 

3. Breakdown of the fair value of financial instruments by level 

The fair value of financial instruments is classified into the following three levels based on the observability and significance of inputs 

used for valuation. 

Level 1: Of the observable inputs for fair value measurement, fair value is measured using quoted prices for assets or liabilities subject 

to fair value measurements that are formed in active markets. 

Level 2: Of the observable inputs for fair value measurement, fair value is measured using inputs other than Level 1 inputs. 

Level 3: Fair value is measured using unobservable inputs. 

If multiple inputs that have a significant impact on fair value measurement are used, of the levels to which each input belongs, the fair 

value is classified into the lowest priority level in the fair value measurement. 
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(1) Financial instruments recorded at fair value on the consolidated balance sheets 

FY2023 (December 31, 2023) 

(Millions of yen) 

Classification 
Fair value 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

Investments in securities 

Available-for-sale securities 
    

Corporate bonds — 1,031 — 1,031 

Other — 28,846 — 28,846 

Total assets — 29,878 — 29,878 

 

FY2024 (December 31, 2024) 

(Millions of yen) 

Classification 
Fair value 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

Investments in securities 

Available-for-sale securities 
    

Corporate bonds — 992 — 992 

Other — 26,781 — 26,781 

Total assets — 27,773 — 27,773 
 

Note: Explanation of valuation techniques used to measure fair value and inputs related to the measurement of fair value 

Available-for-sale securities 

The Company’s holdings of bonds and other securities are classified as Level 2 fair value as they are infrequently traded 

in the market and their fair values cannot be considered as market prices in active markets. 
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■ (Securities) 
1. Available-for-sale securities 

FY2023 (December 31, 2023) 

(Millions of yen) 

Classification Type 

Carrying amounts 

on the consolidated 

balance sheets 

Acquisition cost Difference 

Securities whose carrying 

amount on the consolidated 

balance sheets exceeds 

acquisition cost 

(1) Government and municipal bonds — — — 

(2) Corporate bonds 1,001 1,000 1 

(3) Other 9,023 9,000 23 

Subtotal 10,025 10,000 25 

Securities whose carrying 

amount on the consolidated 

balance sheets does not 

exceed acquisition cost 

(1) Government and municipal bonds — — — 

(2) Corporate bonds 30 30 — 

(3) Other 19,823 20,000 (176) 

Subtotal 19,853 20,030 (176) 

Total  29,878 30,030 (151) 

 

FY2024 (December 31, 2024) 

(Millions of yen) 

Classification Type 

Carrying amounts 

on the consolidated 

balance sheets 

Acquisition cost Difference 

Securities whose carrying 

amount on the consolidated 

balance sheets exceeds 

acquisition cost 

(1) Government and municipal bonds — — — 

(2) Corporate bonds — — — 

(3) Other 3,001 3,000 1 

Subtotal 3,001 3,000 1 

Securities whose carrying 

amount on the consolidated 

balance sheets does not 

exceed acquisition cost 

(1) Government and municipal bonds — — — 

(2) Corporate bonds 992 1,000 (8) 

(3) Other 23,780 24,000 (219) 

Subtotal 24,772 25,000 (227) 

Total  27,773 28,000 (226) 

 

2. Held-to-maturity debt securities sold during the fiscal year 

FY2023 (January 1, 2023–December 31, 2023) 

None 

 

FY2024 (January 1, 2024–December 31, 2024) 

None 
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3. Available-for-sale securities sold during the fiscal year 

FY2023 (January 1, 2023–December 31, 2023) 

(Millions of yen) 

Type Amount of sale Total gain on sales Total loss on sales 

Stocks 0 0 — 

 

FY2024 (January 1, 2024–December 31, 2024) 

None 

 

4. Securities for which the holding purpose was changed 

FY2023 (January 1, 2023–December 31, 2023) 

None 

 

FY2024 (January 1, 2024–December 31, 2024) 

None 

 

5. Securities for which an impairment loss was recognized 

FY2023 (January 1, 2023–December 31, 2023) 

In fiscal 2023, loss on valuation of investment securities was recognized in the amount of ¥361 million. 

 

FY2024 (January 1, 2024–December 31, 2024) 

In fiscal 2024, loss on valuation of investment securities was recognized in the amount of ¥300 million. 

 

 

■ (Retirement Benefits) 
1. Summary of retirement benefit plans adopted 

The Company and its domestic consolidated subsidiaries have defined benefit pension plans (cash balance plans) and lump-sum 

retirement payment plans. Certain foreign consolidated subsidiaries have lump-sum retirement payment plans. 

When employees retire, premium retirement payments, etc., which are treated as retirement benefit expenses at the time of payment, 

may be paid. 

Certain consolidated subsidiaries use the simplified accounting method to calculate retirement benefit obligations. 
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2. Defined benefit plans (including plans applying the simplified accounting method) 

(1) Movement in retirement benefit obligations 

(Millions of yen) 

 

FY2023 

(January 1, 2023– 

December 31, 2023) 

FY2024 

(January 1, 2024– 

December 31, 2024) 

Balance at the beginning of the period 8,991 8,927 

Service cost 669 787 

Interest cost 69 70 

Actuarial loss (gain) (134) (284) 

Benefits paid (672) (756) 

Other 3 3 

Balance at the end of the period 8,927 8,748 

 

(2) Movement in pension assets 

(Millions of yen) 

 

FY2023 

(January 1, 2023– 

December 31, 2023) 

FY2024 

(January 1, 2024– 

December 31, 2024) 

Balance at the beginning of the period 7,087 8,115 

Expected return on pension assets 106 121 

Actuarial gain (loss) (70) 3 

Contribution paid by the employer 1,518 911 

Benefits paid (526) (633) 

Balance at the end of the period 8,115 8,518 

 

(3) Reconciliation of balance at the end of the period of retirement benefit obligations and pension assets to net defined benefit liability 

recognized on the consolidated balance sheets 

(Millions of yen) 

 
FY2023 

December 31, 2023 

FY2024 

December 31, 2024 

Funded retirement benefit obligations 7,957 7,595 

Pension assets (8,115) (8,518) 

 (158) (923) 

Unfunded retirement benefit obligations 969 1,152 

Net liabilities and assets recognized on the consolidated balance sheets 811 229 

   

Net defined benefit liability 811 229 

Net liabilities and assets recognized on the consolidated balance sheets 811 229 
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(4) Amount of retirement benefit expenses and breakdown of items 

(Millions of yen) 

 

FY2023 

(January 1, 2023– 

December 31, 2023) 

FY2024 

(January 1, 2024– 

December 31, 2024) 

Service cost 669 787 

Interest cost 69 70 

Expected return on pension assets (106) (121) 

Amortization of actuarial loss 42 38 

Other 65 23 

Retirement benefit expenses related to defined benefit plans 740 799 

Notes: 1. Retirement benefit expenses for consolidated subsidiaries that use the simplified accounting method were included in 

“Service cost.” 

2. Premium retirement payments paid on a one-off basis were recorded under “Other” and amounted to ¥74 million in fiscal 

2023 and ¥35 million in fiscal 2024. 

 

(5) Remeasurements of defined benefit plans 

The details of remeasurements of defined benefit plans (before tax effect) are as follows: 

(Millions of yen) 

 

FY2023 

(January 1, 2023– 

December 31, 2023) 

FY2024 

(January 1, 2024– 

December 31, 2024) 

Actuarial loss 105 326 

Total 105 326 

 

(6) Accumulated remeasurements of defined benefit plans 

The details of accumulated remeasurements of defined benefit plans (before tax effect) are as follows: 

(Millions of yen) 

 
FY2023 

December 31, 2023 

FY2024 

December 31, 2024 

Unrecognized actuarial loss (gain) (354) (681) 

Total (354) (681) 
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(7) Particulars for pension assets 

1) Major components of pension assets 

The percentages for major classifications to total pension assets are as follows: 

 
FY2023 

December 31, 2023 

FY2024 

December 31, 2024 

Life insurance general accounts 59.5 % 54.6 % 

Life insurance special accounts 28.5 % 32.4 % 

Other 12.0 % 13.0 % 

Total 100.0 % 100.0 % 

 

2) Method of setting the long-term expected rate of return on pension assets 

The long-term expected rate of return on pension assets is determined by considering current and anticipated allocations and 

current and anticipated long-term rates of return from the portfolio of pension assets. 

 

(8) Particulars for actuarial calculation assumptions 

Principal actuarial assumptions (represented as a weighted average) 

 

FY2023 

(January 1, 2023– 

December 31, 2023) 

FY2024 

(January 1, 2024– 

December 31, 2024) 

Discount rate 1.4 % 1.3 % 

Long-term expected rate of return 1.5 % 1.5 % 

The expected rate of salary increase is calculated by using the salary increase index by age as of December 31, 2024. 

 

3. Defined contribution pension plans 

Consolidated subsidiaries’ required contributions to defined contribution pension plans were ¥2 million in fiscal 2023 and ¥— million 

in fiscal 2024. 
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■ (Stock Options) 
1. Details of, number of and changes to stock options 

(1) Details of stock options 

 
Subscription rights to 

shares issued in fiscal 2012 

Subscription rights to 

shares issued in fiscal 2013 

Subscription rights to 

shares issued in fiscal 2014 

Date of approval March 30, 2012 March 29, 2013 March 28, 2014 

Classification and number of 

grantees 

7 directors of the Company 

and 7 directors of 

subsidiaries 

7 directors of the Company 

and 6 directors of 

subsidiaries 

7 directors of the Company 

and 7 directors of 

subsidiaries 

Type and number of shares 

granted (shares) 
Common stock: 118,800 Common stock: 78,800 Common stock: 62,680 

Grant date April 16, 2012 April 15, 2013 April 14, 2014 

Preconditions to exercising 

rights 

Resignation of the positions 

as directors in both the 

Company and the 

subsidiaries 

Resignation of the positions 

as directors in both the 

Company and the 

subsidiaries 

Resignation of the positions 

as directors in both the 

Company and the 

subsidiaries 

Service period required Not specified Not specified Not specified 

Exercisable period 
From April 17, 2012 

 through April 16, 2042 

From April 16, 2013 

 through April 15, 2043 

From April 15, 2014 

 through April 14, 2044 

 

 
Subscription rights to 

shares issued in fiscal 2015 

Subscription rights to 

shares issued in fiscal 2016 

Subscription rights to 

shares issued in fiscal 2017 

Date of approval March 27, 2015 March 31, 2016 April 3, 2017 

Classification and number of 

grantees 

6 directors of the Company 

and 7 directors of 

subsidiaries 

6 directors of the Company 

and 5 directors of 

subsidiaries 

6 directors of the Company 

and 7 directors of 

subsidiaries 

Type and number of shares 

granted (shares) 
Common stock: 38,560 Common stock: 25,000 Common stock: 23,920 

Grant date April 13, 2015 April 15, 2016 April 18, 2017 

Preconditions to exercising 

rights 

Resignation of the positions 

as directors in both the 

Company and the 

subsidiaries 

Resignation of the positions 

as directors in both the 

Company and the 

subsidiaries 

Resignation of the positions 

as directors in both the 

Company and the 

subsidiaries 

Service period required Not specified Not specified Not specified 

Exercisable period 
From April 14, 2015 

 through April 13, 2045 

From April 16, 2016 

 through April 15, 2046 

From April 19, 2017 

 through April 18, 2047 
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Subscription rights to 

shares issued in fiscal 2018 

Date of approval March 28, 2018 

Classification and number of 

grantees 

4 directors of the Company 

and 7 directors of 

subsidiaries 

Type and number of shares 

granted (shares) 
Common stock: 10,960 

Grant date April 12, 2018 

Preconditions to exercising 

rights 

Resignation of the positions 

as directors in both the 

Company and the 

subsidiaries 

Service period required Not specified 

Exercisable period 
From April 13, 2018 

 through April 12, 2048 

Note: The Company carried out a four-for-one stock split of its common stock effective on April 1, 2017. Shares granted were 

recalculated based on the shares post stock split. 

 

(2) Information on number of and changes to stock options 

The number of existing stock options translated into shares at the end of fiscal 2024 (December 31, 2024) is presented below. 

 

1) Number of stock options 

 
Subscription rights to 

shares issued in fiscal 2012 

Subscription rights to 

shares issued in fiscal 2013 

Subscription rights to 

shares issued in fiscal 2014 

Date of approval March 30, 2012 March 29, 2013 March 28, 2014 

Non-vested (shares) 

Outstanding at beginning of 

period 
46,200 37,840 32,400 

Granted — — — 

Forfeited — — — 

Vested 7,560 5,240 7,760 

Balance of non-vested (shares) 38,640 32,600 24,640 

Vested (shares) 

Outstanding at beginning of 

period 
19,280 13,400 9,840 

Vested 7,560 5,240 7,760 

Exercised 3,200 — — 

Forfeited — — — 

Balance of non-exercised 

(shares) 
23,640 18,640 17,600 
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Subscription rights to 

shares issued in fiscal 2015 

Subscription rights to 

shares issued in fiscal 2016 

Subscription rights to 

shares issued in fiscal 2017 

Date of approval March 27, 2015 March 31, 2016 April 3, 2017 

Non-vested (shares) 

Outstanding at beginning of 

period 
21,120 18,640 17,320 

Granted — — — 

Forfeited — — — 

Vested 4,760 3,480 2,840 

Balance of non-vested (shares) 16,360 15,160 14,480 

Vested (shares) 

Outstanding at beginning of 

period 
6,760 1,680 2,880 

Vested 4,760 3,480 2,840 

Exercised — — — 

Forfeited — — 1,560 

Balance of non-exercised 

(shares) 
11,520 5,160 4,160 

 

 
Subscription rights to 

shares issued in fiscal 2018 

Date of approval March 28, 2018 

Non-vested (shares)  

Outstanding at beginning of 

period 
7,120 

Granted — 

Forfeited — 

Vested 1,280 

Balance of non-vested (shares) 5,840 

Vested (shares)  

Outstanding at beginning of 

period 
1,280 

Vested 1,280 

Exercised — 

Forfeited 680 

Balance of non-exercised 

(shares) 
1,880 

Note: The Company carried out a four-for-one stock split of its common stock effective on April 1, 2017. The number of stock 

options was recalculated based on the shares post stock split. 
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2) Price information 

 
Subscription rights to 

shares issued in fiscal 2012 

Subscription rights to 

shares issued in fiscal 2013 

Subscription rights to 

shares issued in fiscal 2014 

Date of approval March 30, 2012 March 29, 2013 March 28, 2014 

Exercise price (yen) 1 1 1 

Average stock price at the time 

of exercise (yen) 
1,441 — — 

Fair value of stock options on 

the grant date (yen) 
458 641 750 

 

 
Subscription rights to 

shares issued in fiscal 2015 

Subscription rights to 

shares issued in fiscal 2016 

Subscription rights to 

shares issued in fiscal 2017 

Date of approval March 27, 2015 March 31, 2016 April 3, 2017 

Exercise price (yen) 1 1 1 

Average stock price at the time 

of exercise (yen) 
— — — 

Fair value of stock options on 

the grant date (yen) 
1,462 1,831 1,909 

 

 
Subscription rights to 

shares issued in fiscal 2018 

Date of approval March 28, 2018 

Exercise price (yen) 1 

Average stock price at the time 

of exercise (yen) 
— 

Fair value of stock options on 

the grant date (yen) 
3,838 

Note: The Company carried out a four-for-one stock split of its common stock effective on April 1, 2017. Price information was 

recalculated based on the prices post stock split. 

 

2. Method for estimating the fair value of stock options vested during the current fiscal year 

None 

 

3. Method for estimating the number of stock options vested 

As making a reasonable estimation for future forfeited shares is difficult, the Company adopted the method of reflecting the actual 

number of forfeited shares only. 
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■ (Tax Effect Accounting) 
1. Significant components of deferred tax assets and liabilities 

(Millions of yen) 

 
FY2023 

December 31, 2023 

FY2024 

December 31, 2024 

Deferred tax assets   

Provision for bonuses 467 405 

Net defined benefit liability 258 193 

Loss on valuation of inventories 522 516 

Impairment loss 898 986 

Contract liabilities 471 421 

Unrealized inter-company profit 1,615 1,454 

Tax loss carry-forwards (Note) 11,339 11,865 

Enterprise tax payable 156 204 

Asset retirement obligations 1,170 1,242 

Other 2,066 2,269 

Subtotal deferred tax assets 18,967 19,559 

Valuation allowance for tax loss carry-forwards (Note) (10,349) (11,624) 

Valuation allowance for total deductible temporary differences (1,898) (2,084) 

Subtotal valuation allowance (12,247) (13,709) 

Total deferred tax assets 6,719 5,849 

Deferred tax liabilities   

Valuation difference on available-for-sale securities (160) (123) 

Translation differences of long-term foreign currency-

denominated receivables and payables 
(33) (116) 

Restoration cost for asset retirement obligations (261) (286) 

Other 0 (102) 

Total deferred tax liabilities (455) (629) 

Deferred tax assets, net 6,264 5,220 

Note: Tax loss carry-forwards and the corresponding deferred tax assets for each carry-forward period 
 

FY2023 (December 31, 2023) 

(Millions of yen) 

 
1 year 

or less 

After 1 year 

through 

2 years 

After 2 years 

through 

3 years 

After 3 years 

through 

4 years 

After 4 years 

through 

5 years 

After 

5 years 
Total 

Tax loss carry-forwards (a) 160 923 229 556 1,225 8,244 11,339 

Valuation allowance (160) (839) (229) (556) (1,150) (7,412) (10,349) 

Deferred tax assets (b) — 83 — — 74 831 990 

(a) Tax loss carry-forwards are amounts that were multiplied by the statutory income tax rate. 

(b) Deferred tax assets for tax loss carry-forwards are determined to be recoverable after the estimated taxable income based on 

the future earnings power of each company with tax loss carry-forwards is taken into account. 
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FY2024 (December 31, 2024) 

(Millions of yen) 

 
1 year 

or less 

After 1 year 

through 

2 years 

After 2 years 

through 

3 years 

After 3 years 

through 

4 years 

After 4 years 

through 

5 years 

After 

5 years 
Total 

Tax loss carry-forwards (a) 931 237 578 1,248 796 8,072 11,865 

Valuation allowance (867) (237) (578) (1,167) (743) (8,030) (11,624) 

Deferred tax assets (b) 64 — — 81 52 42 240 

(a) Tax loss carry-forwards are amounts that were multiplied by the statutory income tax rate. 

(b) Deferred tax assets for tax loss carry-forwards are determined to be recoverable after the estimated taxable income based on 

the future earnings power of each company with tax loss carry-forwards is taken into account. 

 

2. Reconciliation between the statutory tax rate and the effective income tax rate after the application of tax effect accounting 

(%) 

 
FY2023 

December 31, 2023 

FY2024 

December 31, 2024 

Statutory income tax rate 30.6 30.6 

(Convocation)   

Expenditure not allowable for income tax purposes 

(entertainment expense, etc.) 
0.7 0.8 

Per capita inhabitants’ tax 0.2 0.4 

Increase (decrease) in valuation allowance 4.7 8.0 

Tax credits for research and development costs — (2.8) 

Other 0.4 (0.5) 

Effective income tax rate after application of tax effect accounting 36.6 36.5 

 

3. Accounting for corporate and local income taxes or tax effect accounting related thereto 

The Company and some of its domestic consolidated subsidiaries adopted the group tax sharing system. In addition, accounting for 

and disclosure of corporate and local income taxes or tax effect accounting related thereto are performed in accordance with the 

“Practical Solution on the Accounting and Disclosure Under the Group Tax Sharing System” (ASBJ PITF No. 42, August 12, 2021). 

 

■ (Asset Retirement Obligations) 
Asset retirement obligations recorded on the consolidated balance sheets 

(1) Summary of asset retirement obligations 

These include restoration costs associated with lease contracts for stores, etc., and asbestos removal costs incurred during dismantling 

of buildings. 

 

(2) Calculation method of asset retirement obligations 

The expected usage period is estimated as the contract period of the real estate lease contract and the useful life of the building, and 

the discount rate is determined using the yield of the government bond corresponding to the period to calculate the amount of asset 

retirement obligations. 
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(3) Increase/decrease in total amount 

(Millions of yen) 

 

FY2023 

(January 1, 2023– 

December 31, 2023) 

FY2024 

(January 1, 2024– 

December 31, 2024) 

Balance at the beginning of the period 3,768 3,563 

Increase due to acquisition of property, plant and equipment 57 567 

Adjustment amount over time 15 14 

Decrease due to fulfillment of asset retirement obligations (284) (241) 

Other increase (decrease) 6 4 

Balance at the end of the period 3,563 3,908 
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■ (Investment and Rental Property) 
The Group owns office buildings and residential properties for lease in Tokyo and other areas. 

In fiscal 2023, net rental income from investment and rental properties was ¥686 million (in which rental income is recorded under 

net sales and non-operating income, while rental expenses are recorded under cost of sales, selling, general and administrative expenses, 

and non-operating expenses). 

In fiscal 2024, net rental income from investment and rental properties is ¥365 million (in which rental income is recorded under net 

sales and non-operating income, while rental expenses are recorded under cost of sales, selling, general and administrative expenses, and 

non-operating expenses). 

The carrying amounts on the consolidated balance sheets, net change during fiscal 2023 and fiscal 2024 and the fair value of those 

properties are stated below. 

(Millions of yen) 

 

FY2023 

(January 1, 2023– 

December 31, 2023) 

FY2024 

(January 1, 2024– 

December 31, 2024) 

Carrying amounts 

on the consolidated 

balance sheets 

Balance at the beginning of the period 19,450 22,563 

Change 3,112 3,372 

Balance at the end of the period 22,563 25,935 

Fair value at the end of the period 75,193 77,580 

Notes: 1. The carrying amounts present acquisition cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment loss. 

2. Main change 

(Fiscal 2023) 

Increase: Refurbishment of office buildings for lease: ¥3,295 million 

Decrease: Depreciation on office buildings and residential properties and other properties for lease: ¥463 million 

(Fiscal 2024) 

Increase: Refurbishment of office buildings for lease: ¥4,154 million 

Decrease: Depreciation on office buildings and residential properties and other properties for lease: ¥656 million 

3. Method for calculating fair values 

The fair values of major properties are determined at the amounts using appraisal certificates provided by outside real 

estate assessors. For other properties, however, the fair value of land is determined at the amount adjusted using the indices 

that are considered to properly reflect market price. The fair values of depreciable assets such as buildings are determined 

at the carrying amounts on the consolidated balance sheets. 
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■ (Revenue Recognition) 
1. Information analyzing revenue from contracts with customers 

FY2023 (January 1, 2023–December 31, 2023) 

(Millions of yen) 

 Japan Asia Other areas Total 

Beauty Care 140,045 24,638 3,793 168,447 

Real Estate 0 — — 0 

Others 2,748 — — 2,748 

Revenue from contracts with customers 142,793 24,638 3,793 171,226 

Other revenue 2,077 — — 2,077 

Segment sales to external customers 144,871 24,638 3,793 173,304 

Note: “Others” comprises business operations that are not categorized as reportable segments and includes the building maintenance 

business. 

 

FY2024 (January 1, 2024–December 31, 2024) 

(Millions of yen) 

 Japan Asia Other areas Total 

Beauty Care 140,586 21,431 3,043 165,060 

Real Estate 0 — — 0 

Others 3,085 — — 3,085 

Revenue from contracts with customers 143,671 21,431 3,043 168,146 

Other revenue 2,213 — — 2,213 

Segment sales to external customers 145,885 21,431 3,043 170,359 

Note: “Others” comprises business operations that are not categorized as reportable segments and includes the building maintenance 

business. 

 

2. Information forming the basis for understanding revenue from contracts with customers 

It is as stated in “Basis for Preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements, 4. Particulars for accounting policies, (5) Basis for 

recording significant revenues and expenses.” 

 

3. Information about the relationship between the satisfaction of performance obligations under contracts with customers and cash flows 

from such contracts, and the amount and timing of revenue from contracts with customers that existed at the end of the current fiscal 

year that is expected to be recognized in subsequent fiscal years 

(1) Outstanding contract liabilities 

(Millions of yen) 

 FY2023 FY2024 

Contract liabilities (balance at the beginning of the period) 5,437 5,226 

Contract liabilities (balance at the end of the period) 5,226 4,795 

Contract liabilities were mainly due to the point programs and related to advance payments received from customers for aesthetic 

treatments. Points expected to be exercised by customers in the future are recorded under contract liabilities as performance 
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obligations when the points provide customers with significant rights, and are recognized as revenue when the points are used. 

The residual performance obligation for aesthetic treatments provided in stores is recognized as revenue based on the number of 

times that customers are provided treatments. 

The amount of revenue recognized in fiscal 2023 that was included in the contract liability balance at the beginning of the period 

was ¥5,437 million. 

The amount of revenue recognized in fiscal 2024 that was included in the contract liability balance at the beginning of the period 

was ¥5,226 million. 

 

(2) Transaction price allocated to remaining performance obligations 

Since there are no significant contracts with an initial expected contract period exceeding one year, the practical expedient is applied 

and information on remaining performance obligations is omitted. 
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■ (Segment Information, etc.) 
[Segment information] 

1. General information about reportable segments 

A reportable segment is a component of the Group for which discrete financial information is available and whose operating results 

are regularly reviewed by the Board of Directors to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its 

performance. 

The Group primarily develops, manufactures and markets cosmetics products and related products. It promotes a multi-brand 

strategy of holding a range of brands and winning market shares for each of its high-profile brands in order to satisfy the diversifying 

needs of its customers on the basis of their values. Comprehensive strategies are planned and products are marketed by each brand 

name in Japan and overseas. In addition to its cosmetics business, the Group pursues various businesses to contribute to its profits. 

Therefore, reportable segments consist of the Beauty Care business, the Group’s core business, and the Real Estate business, which 

indirectly supports the Group’s core business. 

The Beauty Care business manufactures and distributes cosmetics and health foods and sells fashion items under the following 

brand names: POLA, ORBIS, Jurlique, DECENCIA, THREE and FUJIMI. The Real Estate business is engaged in the leasing of office 

buildings and residential properties. 

 

2. Calculation method for net sales, profit (loss), assets, liabilities and other items by reportable segment 

The accounting method for the Group’s reportable business segments is generally the same as described in “Basis for Preparation of 

Consolidated Financial Statements.” 

Segment income is based on operating income. The amounts of intersegment unrealized profits and transfers are calculated based 

on prevailing market prices. 

 

■ (Change in Depreciation Method for Tangible Fixed Assets) 
As stated in “Changes in Accounting Policies That Are Difficult to Distinguish from Changes in Accounting Estimates,” the Company 

and its domestic consolidated subsidiaries have shifted from using the declining balance method, which was primarily used for the 

depreciation of tangible fixed assets (except for leased assets), to the straight-line method from the beginning of the current 

consolidated fiscal year. 

As a result of this change, segment profits for the current consolidated accounting period have increased by ¥629 million in Beauty 

Care, ¥43 million in Real Estate, and ¥0 million in Others respectively compared with using the previous method. Reconciliations to 

segment profit has decreased by ¥0 million. 
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3. Information about net sales, profit (loss), assets and other items by reportable segment 

FY2023 (January 1, 2023–December 31, 2023) 

(Millions of yen) 

 

Reportable segments 

Others 

(Note 1) 
Subtotal 

Reconciliations 

(Note 2) 

Amount shown 

on the 

consolidated 

financial 

statements 

(Note 3) 

Beauty Care Real Estate Subtotal 

Net sales        

Sales to external 

customers 
168,477 2,078 170,555 2,748 173,304 — 173,304 

Intersegment sales or 

transfers 
109 444 553 2,301 2,855 (2,855) — 

Total 168,586 2,522 171,109 5,050 176,159 (2,855) 173,304 

Segment income 16,354 440 16,794 149 16,944 (863) 16,080 

Segment assets 160,573 28,071 188,645 3,083 191,728 9,479 201,207 

Other items        

Depreciation and 

amortization 
6,686 424 7,110 12 7,123 589 7,712 

Increase in property, 

plant and equipment 

and intangible assets 

14,042 3,347 17,389 3 17,393 85 17,478 

Notes: 1. “Others” comprises business operations that are not categorized as reportable segments and includes the building 

maintenance business. 

2. Reconciliations consist of the following: 

(1) The segment income reconciliation of ¥(863) million includes intersegment transaction eliminations of ¥8,796 million and 

corporate expenses of ¥(9,659) million not allocated to each segment. Corporate expenses are primarily the Company’s 

administrative expenses not allocated to reportable segments. 

(2) The segment assets reconciliation of ¥9,479 million includes intersegment eliminations of ¥(64,754) million and corporate 

assets of ¥74,234 million not allocated to each segment. Corporate assets are primarily the Company’s financial assets and 

assets in the administrative division not allocated to reportable segments. 

(3) Reconciliations of depreciation and amortization, and increases in property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are 

those related to corporate assets and intersegment eliminations. 

3. Segment income is adjusted for operating income reported on the consolidated statements of income. 

4. Amortization and increase in long-term prepaid expenses are included in depreciation and amortization, and increases in 

property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, respectively. 
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FY2024 (January 1, 2024–December 31, 2024) 

(Millions of yen) 

 

Reportable segments 

Others 

(Note 1) 
Subtotal 

Reconciliations 

(Note 2) 

Amount shown 

on the 

consolidated 

financial 

statements 

(Note 3) 

Beauty Care Real Estate Subtotal 

Net sales        

Sales to external 

customers 
165,060     2,214 167,274 3,085 170,359 — 170,359 

Intersegment sales or 

transfers 
124 478 603 2,538 3,142 (3,142) — 

Total 165,184 2,692 167,877 5,624 173,502 (3,142) 170,359 

Segment income 14,926 76 15,003 231 15,235 (1,424) 13,810 

Segment assets 157,088 34,004 191,093 2,988 194,081 6,239 200,320 

Other items        

Depreciation and 

amortization 
6,886 722 7,609 12 7,622 730 8,352 

Increase in property, 

plant and equipment 

and intangible assets 

8,197 6,048 14,245 2 14,248 270 14,518 

Notes: 1. “Others” comprises business operations that are not categorized as reportable segments and includes the building 

maintenance business. 

2. Reconciliations consist of the following: 

(1) The segment income reconciliation of ¥(1,424) million includes intersegment transaction eliminations of ¥3,052 million 

and corporate expenses of ¥(4,477) million not allocated to each segment. Corporate expenses are primarily the Company’s 

administrative expenses not allocated to reportable segments. 

(2) The segment assets reconciliation of ¥6,239 million includes intersegment eliminations of ¥(64,068) million and corporate 

assets of ¥70,307 million not allocated to each segment. Corporate assets are primarily the Company’s financial assets and 

assets in the administrative division not allocated to reportable segments. 

(3) Reconciliations of depreciation and amortization, and increases in property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are 

those related to corporate assets and intersegment eliminations. 

3. Segment income is adjusted for operating income reported on the consolidated statements of income. 

4. Amortization and increase in long-term prepaid expenses are included in depreciation and amortization, and increases in 

property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, respectively. 
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[Related Information] 

FY2023 (January 1, 2023–December 31, 2023) 

1. Information by product and service 

Information by product and service is omitted as sales to external customers in a single product or service category exceed 90% of net 

sales on the consolidated statements of income. 

 

2. Information by geographical area 

(1) Net sales 

(Millions of yen) 

Japan Asia Other areas Total 

144,871 24,638 3,793 173,304 

Note: Net sales are classified by country or region based on the locations of customers. 

 

(2) Property, plant and equipment 

Information about property, plant and equipment is omitted as the amount of property, plant and equipment located in Japan exceeds 

90% of the property, plant and equipment on the consolidated balance sheets. 

 

3. Information by key customer 

Information by key customer is omitted as there are no external customers for which sales account for more than 10% of net sales 

presented on the consolidated statements of income. 

 

FY2024 (January 1, 2024–December 31, 2024) 

1. Information by product and service 

Information by product and service is omitted as sales to external customers in a single product or service category exceed 90% of net 

sales on the consolidated statements of income. 

 

2. Information by geographical area 

(1) Net sales 

(Millions of yen) 

Japan Asia Other areas Total 

145,885 21,431 3,043 170,359 

Note: Net sales are classified by country or region based on the locations of customers. 

 

(2) Property, plant and equipment 

Information about property, plant and equipment is omitted as the amount of property, plant and equipment located in Japan exceeds 

90% of the property, plant and equipment on the consolidated balance sheets. 

 

3. Information by key customer 

Information by key customer is omitted as there are no external customers for which sales account for more than 10% of net sales 

presented on the consolidated statements of income. 
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[Information about Impairment Loss on Non-current Assets by Reportable Segment] 

FY2023 (January 1, 2023–December 31, 2023) 

(Millions of yen) 

 
Reportable segments 

Others Reconciliations Total 
Beauty Care Real Estate Subtotal 

Impairment loss 1,736 76 1,813 — — 1,813 

 

FY2024 (January 1, 2024–December 31, 2024) 

(Millions of yen) 

 
Reportable segments 

Others Reconciliations Total 
Beauty Care Real Estate Subtotal 

Impairment loss 696 — 696 — — 696 

 

[Information about Amortization and Unamortized Balance of Goodwill by Reportable Segment] 

None 

 

[Information about Gain on Bargain Purchase by Reportable Segment] 

None 

 

[Related-party Information] 

1. Transactions with related parties 

Transactions between consolidated subsidiaries of the Company and related parties 

Officers and major shareholders of the Company (limited to individuals), etc. 

FY2023 (January 1, 2023–December 31, 2023) 

None 

 

FY2024 (January 1, 2024–December 31, 2024) 

Notes: 1. The amount of transactions does not include consumption taxes, etc. 

2. Transaction terms and the policy of determining transaction terms, etc. 

The transaction price is determined based on the prevailing market price, the real estate appraisal value, etc. 

Category Name of 

the 

company 

or the 

individual 

Location Stated capital 

or capital 

contribution 

(millions of 

yen) 

Description of 

business or 

occupation 

Percentage of 

voting rights, 

etc., 

holding/held 

(%) 

Relationship 

with the 

related party 

 

Details of 

transactions 

Amount of 

transactions 

(millions of 

yen) 

Accounting 

item 

Balance at 

the end of 

the period 

(millions of 

yen) 

Officer and 

major 

shareholder 

Satoshi 

Suzuki 

— — Representative 

Director and 

Chairman of the 

Company 

Directly held: 

22.03 

— Receipt of 

cultural 

assets as 

donation 

Notes 1, 2 

32 — — 
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2. Notes related to the parent company and significant affiliates 

None 

 

■ (Per Share Information) 

Item 

FY2023 

(January 1, 2023– 

December 31, 2023) 

FY2024 

(January 1, 2024– 

December 31, 2024) 

Net assets per share ¥758.49 ¥744.16 

Net income per share ¥43.69 ¥41.97 

Diluted net income per share ¥43.64 ¥41.93 

Notes: 1. The Company’s shares held by the officer compensation BIP trust are included in shares of treasury stock that are deducted 

from the number of shares issued and outstanding at the end of the period in the calculation of net assets per share and are 

included in shares of treasury stock that are deducted in the calculation of the average number of shares of treasury stock 

during the period for calculating net income per share and diluted net income per share. The number of shares of deducted 

treasury stock at December 31, 2024 is 344,998 and the average number of shares of such stock is 289,985 during the 

period. The number of shares of deducted treasury stock at December 31, 2023 was 235,910 and the average number of 

shares of such stock was 237,129 during the period. 

 

2. Basis for calculation of net income per share and diluted net income per share is stated below: 

Item 

FY2023 

(January 1, 2023– 

December 31, 2023) 

FY2024 

(January 1, 2024– 

December 31, 2024) 

Net income per share 

Profit attributable to owners of parent (millions of yen) 9,665 9,286 

Amount not attributable to shareholders of common stock 

(millions of yen) 
— — 

Profit attributable to owners of parent associated with 

common stock (millions of yen) 
9,665 9,286 

Average number of shares of common stock during the 

period 
221,236,973 221,258,267 

Diluted net income per share 

Adjustment of profit attributable to owners of parent 

(millions of yen) 
— — 

Number of shares of common stock increased 235,630 231,066 

[Of which, subscription rights to shares] [235,630] [231,066] 

Outline of the dilutive shares not included in the calculation of 

diluted net income per share due to their anti-dilutive effects 
— 

 
  



―51― 

3. Basis for calculation of net assets per share is stated below: 

Item 
FY2023 

(December 31, 2023) 

FY2024 

(December 31, 2024) 

Total net assets (millions of yen) 168,398 164,916 

Amount deducted from total net assets (millions of yen) 591 259 

[Of which, subscription rights to shares (millions of yen)] [243] [236] 

[Of which, non-controlling interests (millions of yen)] [348] [23] 

Net assets associated with common stock (millions of yen) 167,806 164,656 

Number of shares of common stock used in the calculation of net 

assets per share 
221,238,193 221,265,430 

 

■ (Subsequent Event) 

None 
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5) Annexed Consolidated Detailed Schedules 

[Annexed Consolidated Detailed Schedule of Corporate Bonds] 

None 

 

[Annexed Consolidated Detailed Schedule of Borrowings] 

Classification 

Balance at the 

beginning of the 

period 

(millions of yen) 

Balance at the end 

of the period 

(millions of yen) 

Average interest rate  

(%) 
Maturity 

Short-term loans payable — — — — 

Current portion of long-term loans payable 12 6 1.33 — 

Current portion of lease obligations 674 774 5.24 — 

Long-term borrowings 

 (excluding that due within a year) 
46 40 2.00 2026–2030 

Lease obligations 

 (excluding that due within a year) 
962 1,295 7.26 2026–2031 

Other interest-bearing liabilities — — — — 

Total 1,696 2,116 — — 

Notes: 1. “Average interest rate” is the weighted average interest rate on the end-of-period balance of loans. 

2. Total amount of expected repayment of long-term borrowings and lease obligations (excluding that due within a year) for 

the subsequent five years from the consolidated closing date 

(Millions of yen) 

Classification 
Due after 1 year 

through 2 years 

Due after 2 years 

through 3 years 

Due after 3 years 

through 4 years 

Due after 4 years 

through 5 years 

Long-term borrowings 7 7 7 7 

Lease obligations 484 350 257 148 

 

[Annexed Consolidated Detailed Schedule of Asset Retirement Obligations] 

The details of asset retirement obligations that should be stated are omitted as they are described as notes stipulated in Article 15-23 

of the Regulations on Terminology, Forms, and Preparation Methods of Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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(2) Others 
Quarterly information during FY2024 

 
Three months ended 

March 31, 2024 

Six months ended 

June 30, 2024 

Nine months ended 

September 30, 2024 

Fiscal year ended 

December 31, 2024 

Net sales (millions of yen) 40,886 83,836 125,395 170,359 

Income before income taxes (millions of yen) 4,562 10,896 11,422 14,649 

Profit attributable to owners of parent 

(millions of yen) 
3,126 7,500 6,948 9,286 

Net income per share (yen) 14.13 33.90 31.41 41.97 

 

 1st quarter 2nd quarter 3rd quarter 4th quarter 

Net income (loss) per share (yen) 14.13 19.77 (2.49) 10.56 

Note: Review of the financial information for the nine months ended September 30, 2024: None 
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■ Independent Auditor’s Report and Internal Control Audit Report 
March 27, 2025 

 

The Board of Directors 

Pola Orbis Holdings Inc. 
 

Ernst & Young ShinNihon LLC 
Tokyo, Japan 

Tatsuya Yokouchi 
Designated Engagement Partner 
Certified Public Accountant 

Seizaburo Oya 
Designated Engagement Partner 
Certified Public Accountant 

 

<Audit of Consolidated Financial Statements> 

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements for the consolidated fiscal year from January 1, 2024 through December 31, 2024 

of Pola Orbis Holdings Inc. referred to in the Financial Information section, which comprise the consolidated balance sheets, consolidated 

statements of income, consolidated statements of comprehensive income, consolidated statements of changes in net assets, consolidated 

statements of cash flows, basis for preparation of consolidated financial statements, other notes and annexed consolidated detailed 

schedules, to certify the audit pursuant to Article 193-2, Paragraph 1 of the Financial Instruments and Exchange Act of Japan. 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial 

position of Pola Orbis Holdings Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries (the Group) as at December 31, 2024, and its consolidated financial 

performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in 

Japan. 

 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in Japan. Our responsibilities under those standards 

are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We 

are independent of the Group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial 

statements in Japan, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the 

audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
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Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial 

statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of the audit of the consolidated financial statements as a 

whole, and in forming the auditor’s opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

Accuracy of net sales of the Beauty Care business 

Description and Reason for Determination 
of Key Audit Matter Auditor’s Response 

As described in notes to the consolidated financial statements 
(Segment Information, etc.), net sales of the Beauty Care 
business amount to ¥165,060 million out of ¥170,359 million of 
net sales recorded on the consolidated statements of income, 
representing approximately 97% of the consolidated net sales. 
Of these net sales, ¥84,448 million is attributable to POLA 
INC., a major subsidiary with a consignment sales channel as 
its core business. 

As described in notes to the consolidated financial statements 
(Basis for Preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements) 4. 
Accounting policies (5) Basis for recording significant revenues 
and expenses, for the marketing of products, the Group’s 
performance obligation is primarily the delivery of finished 
products based on sales contracts with customers. Upon 
delivery of a product, the customer acquires control of the 
product, and the performance obligation is deemed satisfied and 
revenue is recognized. 

In the consignment sales channel, cosmetics and related 
products are sold through sales partners in possession of 
consignment sales contracts, and revenue is recognized upon 
sale to a customer by the sales partner. 

Although the sales process of the consignment sales channel 
is not a complicated procedure that requires estimates or other 
assumptions, in the reporting of such net sales, net sales are 
automatically calculated and aggregated in the sales 
management system, then linked to the accounting system and 
processed. The whole sales process depends broadly on the 
automated processing by multiple IT systems. In addition, as 
such net sales are highly significant in amount, any 
misstatement in such net sales is very likely to cause a material 
impact on profit and loss. 

In light of the above, we judged the accuracy of net sales of 
the consignment sales channel of POLA INC. to fall under a key 
audit matter. 

The audit procedures we performed to assess the generation and 
accuracy of net sales in the consignment sales channel include 
the following, among others. In addition, the procedures for 
assessment of IT controls were performed in cooperation with 
our IT specialists. 
- We used inquiries, observations and access to documents to 

understand the series of data flows, the processing 
procedure in the relevant IT systems from the beginning of 
a transaction to the reporting of sales and automated internal 
controls. 

- We evaluated the effectiveness of IT general controls by 
reviewing the approval records of managers for program 
changes to sales management and accounting systems, as 
well as the approval records of managers for granting and 
changing access rights to important data and files, and 
regular inspection records of access rights. 

- We reviewed the integrity between the sales management 
system and the accounting system to evaluate the 
effectiveness of IT operation process controls of the data 
interface between the systems. 

- We checked if there is any entry of net sales that was directly 
recorded in the accounting system without being processed 
in the sales management system, to review the 
reasonableness of the reporting of such net sales. 

- For net sales processed as negative net sales during a certain 
period of the following fiscal year, we accessed evidence 
materials of the transactions exceeding certain thresholds to 
examine whether any sales should be treated as cancellation 
of net sales for the current fiscal year. 

- For the balance of accounts receivable –  trade, we 
performed verification procedures of the balance with the 
last day of the fiscal year as the record date for sales partners 
selected by the significance in amount or randomly selected. 

 
 

Other Information 

Other information comprises the information that is included in the annual securities report but does not include the consolidated financial 

statements, financial statements or our auditor’s reports thereon. Management is responsible for preparing and disclosing other 

information. In addition, the Corporate Auditors and the Board of Corporate Auditors are responsible for overseeing the execution of 

duties by Directors in the design and operation of the reporting process for other information. 

Other information is not included in the scope of our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, and we express no opinion on 

such other information. 

Our responsibility for the audit of the consolidated financial statements is to read other information carefully and, in the course of that 

reading, to consider whether there are any material differences between such other information and the consolidated financial statements 

or our knowledge obtained during the audit, and to ascertain whether there are any indications of material errors in other information 

other than such material differences. 

If, on the basis of the work we have performed, we conclude that there are material errors in other information, we are required to 

report those facts. 

We have nothing to report regarding other information. 

 

Responsibilities of Management, the Corporate Auditors and the Board of Corporate Auditors for the Consolidated Financial 

Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with 
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accounting principles generally accepted in Japan, and for the design and operation of such internal controls as management determines 

is necessary to enable the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 

whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going 

concern and disclosing, as required by accounting principles generally accepted in Japan, matters related to the going concern. 

The Corporate Auditors and the Board of Corporate Auditors are responsible for overseeing the execution of duties by Directors in 

the design and operation of the financial reporting process. 

 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Our responsibilities are to obtain reasonable assurance, based on the audit we perform, about whether the consolidated financial 

statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 

our opinion on the consolidated financial statements from an independent standpoint. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 

are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 

users made on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in Japan, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 

professional skepticism throughout the audit. In addition: 

-  We identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 

and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. The selection and application of audit procedures are based on 

our judgment. Furthermore, we obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

-  We consider internal controls relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for 

our risk assessments, while the purpose of the audit of the consolidated financial statements is not expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the Group’s internal control. 

-  We evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used, the application method, the reasonableness of accounting estimates 

and related disclosures made by management. 

- We conclude whether, on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and on the basis of the 

audit evidence obtained, a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s 

ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our 

auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify 

our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events 

or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern. 

- We evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and 

whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 

presentation in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in Japan. 

- We obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within 

the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and 

performance of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with the Corporate Auditors and the Board of Corporate Auditors regarding the planned scope and timing of the 

audit, significant audit findings including any significant deficiencies in internal controls that we have identified during our audit and 

other matters required by the audit standards. 

We also provide the Corporate Auditors and the Board of Corporate Auditors with a statement saying that we have complied with the 

ethical requirements regarding independence that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Japan, and communicate with 

them regarding all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where applicable, 

related to measures taken to remove disincentives or safeguards to reduce disincentives to an acceptable level. 

From the matters communicated to the Corporate Auditors and the Board of Corporate Auditors, we determine those matters that are 

of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. 

We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in 

extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences 

of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 
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<Audit of Internal Controls> 

Opinion 

We have audited the internal control report of Pola Orbis Holdings Inc. as at December 31, 2024 to certify the audit pursuant to Article 

193-2, Paragraph 2 of the Financial Instruments and Exchange Act of Japan. 

In our opinion, the internal control report referred to above, in which Pola Orbis Holdings Inc. indicated that its internal controls over 

financial reporting as at December 31, 2024 are effective, presents fairly, in all material respects, the results of its assessment of internal 

controls over financial reporting in conformity with criteria for assessment of internal controls over financial reporting generally accepted 

in Japan. 

 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit of internal controls in accordance with auditing standards for internal controls over financial reporting generally 

accepted in Japan. Our responsibilities under the auditing standards for internal controls over financial reporting are further described in 

the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Internal Controls section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance 

with professional ethical requirements in Japan, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities as auditors. We believe that the 

audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

 

Responsibilities of Management, the Corporate Auditors and the Board of Corporate Auditors for the Internal Control Report 

Management is responsible for designing and operating internal controls over financial reporting, and for preparing and presenting fairly 

an internal control report in conformity with criteria for assessment of internal controls over financial reporting generally accepted in 

Japan. 

The Corporate Auditors and the Board of Corporate Auditors are responsible for overseeing and verifying the design and operation of 

internal controls over financial reporting. 

It is possible that internal controls over financial reporting will not completely prevent or detect misstatements in financial reporting. 

 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Internal Controls 

Our responsibilities are to obtain reasonable assurance, based on the audit of internal controls we performed, about whether the internal 

control report is free from material misstatement and to issue an internal control audit report that includes our opinion on the internal 

control report from an independent standpoint. 

As part of an audit in accordance with auditing standards for internal controls over financial reporting generally accepted in Japan, we 

exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. In addition 

- We conduct audit procedures to obtain audit evidence regarding the results of the assessment of internal controls over financial 

reporting in the internal control report. Audit procedures for internal control audits are selected and applied based on our judgment, 

depending on the materiality of the effect on the reliability of financial reporting. 

- We consider the overall presentation of the internal control report, including statements made by management regarding the scope 

of assessment of internal controls over financial reporting, assessment procedures and results. 

- We plan and perform the audit of internal controls to obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence regarding the results of the 

assessment of internal controls over financial reporting in the internal control report. We are responsible for the direction, supervision 

and review of the audit of the internal control report. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with the Corporate Auditors and the Board of Corporate Auditors regarding the planned scope and timing of the 

internal control audit and the findings of the audit, any material deficiencies in internal controls that we have identified that should be 

disclosed, the outcome of corrections and other matters required by the auditing standards for internal controls. 

We also provide the Corporate Auditors and the Board of Corporate Auditors with a statement saying that we have complied with the 

ethical requirements regarding independence that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Japan, and communicate with 

them regarding all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where applicable, 

related to measures taken to remove disincentives or safeguards to reduce disincentives to an acceptable level. 
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Interest Required to Be Disclosed by the Certified Public Accountants Act of Japan 

Our firm and its designated engagement partners do not have any interest in the Group that is required to be disclosed pursuant to the 

provisions of the Certified Public Accountants Act of Japan. 
 

 

Notes: 1. The original of the independent auditor’s report is kept separately by the Company, which filed an annual securities report. 

 2. XBRL data is excluded from the scope of the audit. 

 

 


